2002

State of Utah v. Robert Barney : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Robert Barney appeals from the judgment, sentence and commitment of the Fourth District Court after the entry of a conditional plea to the charge of possession with intent to manufacture or produce a controlled substance, a third degree felony.

B. Trial Court Proceedings and Disposition

Robert Barney was charged by information filed in Fourth District Court on or about August 18, 2000, with 1) unlawful production of marijuana, a controlled substance, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Annotated § 58-37-8(1)(a)(i), 2) possession or use of marijuana, a controlled substance, in a drug free zone, a Class A Misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Annotated § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i), and 3) unlawful possession or use of drug paraphernalia in a drug free zone, a Class A Misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Annotated § 58-37a-5(1) (R. 2).

On June 20, 2001, Barney waived his right to a preliminary hearing (R. 50). On July 10, 2001, Barney filed a motion to suppress all evidence seized as a result of the execution of a search warrant, arguing that 1) the magistrate lacked probable cause to authorize a search, 2) the affidavit in support of the search warrant did not provide sufficient evidence to justify a search without notice of intent or authority, and 3) the defendant's incriminating statements and actions were not attenuated from the illegal

search. (R. 57-75). On July 27, 2002, the court ordered the State to file an addendum to their response explaining “this is a very close case” since the affidavit for the search warrant might lack independent corroboration besides the confidential informant (R. 146 at 3).

On August 22, 2001, the hearing for the motion to suppress the search warrant was held before the Honorable Guy R. Burningham (R. 95, 147). At the hearing, the judge denied the motion to suppress, finding that “the affidavit does set sufficient facts in the affidavit to establish that this is probably a reliable confidential informant” (R. 147 at 10, 22).

On September 26, 2001, the case was set for Entry of Plea before the Honorable Guy R. Burningham (R. 98). The next day, September 27, 2001, defense entered a Request for Clarification of Ruling on Defendant’s Motion to Suppress, arguing that the Court’s file “does not include the Affidavit, Warrant, and Return of Service, with inventory” as required by Utah Code Annotated § 77-23-209, Utah Code (R. 100-101). On October 12, 2001, the court filed the Search Warrant as requested in defendant’s Request (R. 102-103).

On October 17, 2001, Barney entered into a no-contest “Sery Plea” to the charge of unlawful production of a controlled substance, a third degree felony conditioned on his “right to appeal in order to present his challenge to the issuance of the search warrant” (R. 115-125).

On November 11, 2001, Barney was sentenced to 35 days in the Utah County Jail, ordered to pay a fine of \$925, and was placed on probation for 36 months. (R. 130-133).

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On 22 June, 2000, officer Robert Welcker, presented an affidavit in support of a search warrant to the Honorable Fred D. Howard sitting as a magistrate seeking a search warrant to enter the premises Robert Barney (R. 74). “The Affidavit set forth in ten paragraphs the reasons for requesting authority to search” (R.74).

“The reasons set forth in the Affidavit to justify a search of the targeted residence come exclusively from one confidential informant” (R. 71). The sole confidential informant “was working off charges by working for the police and therefore was not a private citizen” (R. 88). The affiant (Officer Welcker) stated that the confidential informant had “hundreds of experiences with marijuana and knows the substance well,” and that the informant saw the defendant sell and grow marijuana in and around the residence (R. 109). The confidential informant also asserted being at the residence “several times in the past three months when individuals arriving and leaving the residence in vehicles were transporting marijuana and paraphernalia and that individuals at the residence have marijuana and paraphernalia secreted on their persons ” (R. 109).

After receiving this information from the confidential informant, “neither officer Welcker (the affiant) nor any other police officer provided the magistrate with additional evidence to support the search, such as surveillance of the residence, evidence of unusually high traffic, a garbage can search, a controlled buy, information from named or known neighbors, etc.” (R. 71).

Thereafter, on the same date, the magistrate executed a search warrant granting a search of the described premises (R. 74). The search warrant authorized a search “during the night time hours” and “without notice of prior intent or authority” (R. 74).

The described premises were searched by various officers from various Utah County police departments and the Utah County Major Crimes Task Force, with entry being achieved at approximately 9:00 p.m. on 23 June, 2000 (R. 74). As a result of the search, various items of personal property were seized (R. 74, 105-106). Barney seeks suppression of such tangible evidence as well as any of his statements made to police executing the warrant by way of his Motion to Suppress (R. 73).

The state submitted to the defendant's recitation of the facts (R. 92).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Barney's motion to suppress evidence seized during the execution of a search warrant of his premises. The affidavit in support of a search warrant contained no evidence that any officer independently corroborated the confidential informant's tip. The magistrate authorized a search of Barney's residence solely on the assertions of a confidential informant's who happened to be working off charges for the police and whose only qualification was having hundreds of past experiences with marijuana.

Utah has adopted a totality of the circumstances test to determine whether a fair probability exists that drugs will be obtained pursuant to a search. When the reliability of a confidential informant has been questioned, all relevant Utah case law has provided that some form of independent police corroboration was a significant factor in the magistrate's proper grant of a search warrant. There is no relevant Utah case law finding a magistrate properly granted a search warrant without independent police corroboration.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS CONCLUSION THAT THE MAGISTRATE HAD SUFFICIENT PROBABLE CAUSE TO ISSUE A SEARCH WARRANT

The trial court's denial of Barney's motion to suppress should be reversed because the magistrate lacked the substantial basis to conclude that the affidavit adequately established probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant. The confidential informant was on the low end of the reliability scale and the informant's assertions were not corroborated in any manner.

For a magistrate to determine there is a fair probability that evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place, he must look at "all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, including the veracity and basis of knowledge" of the informant. *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). The court pays great deference to a judicial determination of probable cause. *State v. Hansen*, 732 P.2d 127, 129 (Utah 1987).

When an affidavit for a search warrant relies solely on a confidential informant, additional corroboration of the informant's assertions are essential to establish sufficient probability for a magistrate to execute a search warrant. *See Gates*, 462 U.S. 213 (1983) [sufficient probability based on anonymous informant and officer corroboration]; *State v. Hansen*, 732 P.2d 127 (Utah 1987) [sufficient probability based on reliable informant and officer's personal knowledge that suspect was involved in drug violations]; *Kaysville City v. Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d 231, *cert. denied*, 953 P.2d 449 (Utah 1997) [reliable citizen-informant and corroboration by officer]; *State v. Valenzuela*, 2001 UT App 332, 37 P.3d 260 [officers are expected to make significant corroborative efforts to verify informant tips].

A. The Confidential Informant's Reliability

The reliability of the informant one of the factors a magistrate is to consider when determining whether there is a fair probability that evidence sought actually exists. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 238. The Utah Supreme Court has devised a three part test to determine the reliability of an informant's assertions. *Kaysville City v. Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d 231, (Utah App. 1997)

In *Mulcahy*, the court adopted "three factors to consider in determining the reliability and sufficiency of [an] informant's report." *Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d at 235. The first factor focuses on the type of tip or informant involved. *Id.* The court stated that an informant identified as a "citizen-informant" is high on the reliability scale. *Id.* Anonymous tips are toward the low-end of the reliability scale. *Id.* A police informant "would obviously be lower on the reliability scale than a citizen-informant" since he gains information through involvement in criminal activity or he is motivated by gain. *Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d at note 2.

The second factor is "whether the informant gave enough detail about the observed activity to support a stop." *Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d at 236. The court stated that a tip is more reliable if the informant observed the details personally and there is no hint of fabrication. *Id.*

The final factor is "whether the police officer's personal observations confirm the dispatcher's report of the informant's tip." *Id.* The court stated that "corroboration by the police officer means, in light of the circumstances, he confirms enough facts so that he may reasonably conclude that the information provided is reliable and a detention is justified." *Id.*

Although the test in *Mulcahy* was adopted to determine an officer's reasonable sufficiency of information to make a stop, the test reasonably extends to a magistrate's determination of the validity of an affidavit for a search warrant when an affidavit and a magistrate's finding of probable cause is based entirely on observations made by a single confidential informant. In *Mulcahy*, the court stated that "although the necessary degree of suspicion is lower than that necessary for probable cause to arrest, the same totality of facts and circumstances approach is used to determine if there are sufficient and articulable facts to support reasonable suspicion." 943 P.2d at 234. And in *State v. Valenzuela*, 2001 UT App 332, ¶¶ 16-17, 37 P.3d 260 (Utah App. 2001), the court reasoned:

The *Mulcahy* factors were formulated to assist in determining whether an officer had the necessary reasonable articulable suspicion to justify a traffic stop, we see nothing to prohibit extending the use of these factors to determinations of probable cause in the context of information supplied by an informant. *Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d at 234; *see also Gates*, 462 U.S. at 241-46 (finding probable cause existed to arrest the defendant after examining the reliability of the informant, the content of the tip, and the corroborative efforts of the agent); *Draper v. United States*, 358 U.S. 307, 313-14 (1959).

The *Mulcahy* factors clearly focus on examining the totality of the circumstances in these situations and will provide trial courts and trial counsel assistance when faced with similar probable cause determinations in the future."

In *State v. Hansen*, 732 P.2d 127 (Utah 1987), the court stated that an informant that had supplied the police "with information in the past that had resulted in several felony arrests and convictions" was a sufficient indication of the informants reliability and veracity. *Id.* at 130. But in the affidavit for the search warrant, the officer corroborated the informant's tips. *Id.* at 131.

Because the confidential informant in the case at bar "was working off charges by working for the police" (R. 88), his motivation for informing was for personal gain and

not “out of concern for the community.” *Malcahy*, 943 P.2d at 235. Thus, his reliability is at the low end of the scale under the *Malcahy* standard. Even though Officer Welcker asserted in the affidavit that the informant “has provided reliable information in the past” (R. 110), the informant’s reliability must still be corroborated independently.

B. Corroboration by Police

Under the “totality of the circumstances” test, the reliability of the informant is but one of the factors a magistrate is to consider when determining whether there is a fair probability that evidence sought actually exists. Even if the court finds that the magistrate could conclude that the confidential informant was a reliable source, Barney asserts that the magistrate still needed additional corroboration of the informant’s assertions to support the determination that a fair probability existed that evidence of a crime would be at Barney’s residence.

“An officer’s statement that affiants have received reliable information from a credible person and believe that [drugs are] stored in a home is likewise inadequate” to establish a substantial basis that evidence exists. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 239. “Absent a risk to public safety, we expect police officers to make significant independent corroborative efforts to confirm information from a tip.” *State v. Valenzuela*, 2001 UT App 332 at note 8. “The magistrate must not merely ratify the bare conclusions of others.” *State v. Purser*, 828 P.2d 515, 517 (Utah App. 1992)

In *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213 (1983), an Illinois police department received an anonymous letter including statements that a husband and wife were heavily involved in drug trade. *Id.* at 225. The letter stated that the wife would drive a car to Florida to be loaded with drugs while the husband would fly down and drive the car back. *Id.* Acting

on this information, arrangements for surveillance of the defendant's flight were made by the DEA. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 225. The surveillance disclosed "that the husband took the flight, stayed overnight in a motel room registered in the wife's name, and left the following morning with a woman in a car bearing an Illinois license plate issued to the husband, heading north on an interstate highway used by travelers to the Bloomingdale area." *Id.* at 213. With this information, a search warrant was obtained. *Id.* at 226.

The Court stated that the anonymous letter alone would not provide the basis for a magistrate to issue the search warrant. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 227. The Court adopted a "totality of the circumstances" test to determine if a magistrate properly found probable cause to issue a search warrant. *Id.* at 230-231. Explaining this test, the Court stated:

The task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the "veracity" and "basis of knowledge" of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. *Id.* at 238.

The Court in dicta also explained the "limits beyond which a magistrate may not venture when issuing a search warrant." *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 239. "An officer's statement that affiants have received reliable information from a credible person and believe that [drugs are] stored in a home is likewise inadequate." *Id.* The Court expounded on the importance of corroborating evidence when applying the totality of circumstances test. *Id.* at 241. The Court cited *Draper v. United States*, 358 U.S. 307 (1959), where an officer received an informant's detailed account and description of the suspect, which included the name, detailed description of the clothes the defendant would be wearing on the date of his arrival, and the defendant's travel plans, including the date and time of the defendant's arrival. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 242. The officer went to the station on the appointed morning and saw the defendant who matched the exact physical

attributes and wearing the same clothes as identified by the informant. *Id.* The Court in *Draper* concluded that the officer had sufficient information to justify further investigation. *Id.*

The Court in *Gates* held that the magistrate could rely upon the anonymous informant's tip since it was corroborated by the DEA. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 243.

In *State v. Hansen*, 732 P.2d 127, 129 (Utah 1987), the defendants appealed their convictions of possession of marijuana with the intent to distribute. The affidavit for the search warrant stated that the informant had "supplied the police with information in the past which has resulted in several felony arrests and convictions." *Id.* The affidavit also stated that the confidential informant was at the defendant's apartment (five days previous to the execution of the search warrant) and "saw a large quantity of marijuana which was being sold in smaller quantities." *Id.* The affidavit further stipulated that the affiant was acquainted with the defendant as the defendant had previously been arrested for drug violations. *Id.*

The trial court denied the defense's motion to suppress, and the Utah Supreme Court affirmed, holding that:

Search warrant affidavits are to be construed in a common-sense, reasonable manner. Excessive technical dissection of an informant's tip or of the nontechnical language in the officer's affidavit is ill-suited to this task. In *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213 (1983), the Supreme Court emphasized that an informant's "reliability" and "basis of knowledge" are but two relevant considerations, among others, in determining the existence of probable cause under "a totality-of-the-circumstances." They are not strict, independent requirements to be "rigidly exacted" in every case. A weakness in one or the other is not fatal to the warrant so long as in the totality there is a substantial basis to find probable cause. The indicia of veracity, reliability, and basis of knowledge are nonexclusive elements to be evaluated in reaching the practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances, there is a fair probability that the contraband will be found in the place described.

Hansen, 732 P.2d at 130.

The Court in *Hansen* found that an affidavit for a search warrant based upon reliable, personal information from a confidential informant and an officer's personal knowledge that the suspect was involved in drug violations established sufficient probability for a magistrate to conclude some quantity of drug would be found in a search. *Id.* at 131.

The facts and holding in *State v. Vigh*, 871 P.2d 1030 (Utah App. 1994), add additional strength to the general rule that independent corroboration of an informant's testimony is needed. Here, a confidential informant voluntarily provided detailed information to the officer about the suspect. *Id.* at 1032. The informant received nothing in exchange for the information. *Id.* The officer verified the informant's information and then obtained a search warrant based on the informant's information and the officer's verification of that information. *Id.* The court held that "because the confidential informant here received nothing in exchange for information about Vigh's illegal activities, the magistrate properly assumed that the informant was reliable.... and because the police independently corroborated those details, the magistrate properly determined the confidential informant was reliable.... and the magistrate had a substantial basis for finding probable cause and issuing the search warrant." *Vigh*, 871 P.2d at 1034.

The facts in *State v. Purser*, 828 P.2d 515 (Utah App. 1992), are similar to *Vigh*. Here, the officer received a voluntary tip from a confidential informant. *Purser*, 828 P.2d at 516. The officer personally verified the significant facts of the tip and then obtained a search warrant.. *Id.* at 518. The court concluded, based on the totality of the circumstances, that the affidavit established probable cause that drugs would be found at defendant's residence. *Id.*

In *Kaysville City v. Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d 231 (Utah App. 1997), a citizen called the police informing them a “drunk individual” had left his front door and is driving in a “white Toyota Celica, maybe.” *Id.* at 233. The caller informed the police in what direction the defendant was headed and what road he was on. *Id.* The informant left his name and address with the police. *Id.* A dispatcher in turn radioed an officer; the officer saw the white car heading in the direction described by the informant and stopped the car even though the officer observed no traffic violations. *Id.* After smelling alcohol on the defendant’s breath and conducting a field sobriety test, the officer arrested the defendant. *Id.* The defendant filed a motion to suppress arguing the officer did not have reasonable suspicion to support the stop and the trial court granted the motion. *Id.*

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