2002

# Utah v. Robert Barney : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

R. 107-10. A common-sense reading of that paragraph indicates that Officer Welcker and other detectives have previously worked with the CI, and are therefore extremely familiar with him/her. Where a confidential informant's identity is known to police, that informant is more likely to offer true information out of concern for the possible penalties for providing false information to police. *See St. George City v. Carter*, 945 P.2d 165, 169 (Utah App. 1997) (a tip from an informant who has provided his or her name is "highly reliable because the police may verify the information and it subjects the informant to penalty if the information is false."). Accordingly, the CI's reliability is

further enhanced the fact that he/she revealed the instant information despite the officers' knowledge of his/her identity .

Moreover, “[a]ccording to the affidavit, the informant had previously given truthful information to the police concerning the existence of contraband, an accepted method for establishing and informant’s veracity.” *State v. Bailey*, 675 P.2d 1203, 1206 (Utah 1984) (citing *McCray v. Illinois*, 386 U.S. 300 (1967) (holding that a substantial basis for probable cause of an arrest existed where the informant had a history of giving reliable information to the police)). *See also State v. Hansen*, 732 P.2d 127, 130 (Utah 1987) (reaffirming the holding in *Bailey*). Based on the CI’s history of providing truthful and reliable information to the police over an extended period of time, the magistrate correctly concluded that the CI’s information provided a substantial basis to support a finding of probable cause. *See id.*

In addition to that strong evidence of the CI’s veracity and reliability, the CI’s personal observations of defendant’s criminality also serve to reinforce the CI’s reliability. *See Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d at 236 (“A tip is more reliable if it is apparent that the informant observed the details personally, instead of simply relaying information from a third party.”). Here, the affidavit indicates that the CI personally witnessed defendant growing and selling marijuana. *See* R. 107-10. Thus, “[t]he reliability of the confidential disclosure was also enhanced by the informant’s personal observation of a large quantity of marijuana that was being sold in small quantities.” *Hansen*, 732 P.2d at 130.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup>Defendant claims that the CI’s reliability was negatively affected by the fact that he/she was “working off charges by working for the police[.]” *See* Br. of Aplt. at 8, 14.

***Basis of knowledge.*** “Courts have consistently approved the issuance of search warrants where the informant’s knowledge is based on personal observation.” *State v. Purser*, 828P.2d 515 (Utah App. 1992). As mentioned above, the affidavit clearly states the basis of the CI’s knowledge was his/her first hand observation of defendant’s criminality. *See* R. 107-10. Specifically, the affidavit indicates that during the past three months, the CI had been to defendant’s house and interacted with defendant on numerous occasions. *See id.* In fact, the CI was so familiar with defendant that he/she was able to describe in detail defendant’s house, his shed, his barn, his female companion, his visitors and their vehicles, his hours of operation, the trailer parked next to his house, and its occupants. *See id.* While spending time with defendant, the CI observed “wet and fresh” marijuana inside defendant’s house. *See id.* The CI also saw defendant sell marijuana on

---

However, that fact was not presented to the magistrate in the affidavit, and is therefore, not relevant to a determination of probable cause. *See* R. 107-10. In the event that defendant is alleging bad faith under *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), his claim fails. Because defendant failed to preserve this issue in the trial court his claim cannot be considered by this Court. *See State v. Carter*, 707 P.2d 656, 660 (Utah 1985) (“[W]here a defendant fails to assert a particular ground for suppressing unlawfully obtained evidence in the trial court, an appellate court will not consider that ground on appeal.”). Additionally, defendant’s claim is inappropriate where he has failed to adequately brief the issue. *See Utah R.App. P. 24(a)(9)* (“The argument shall contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, including the grounds for reviewing any issue not preserved in the trial court, with citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record relied on.”). Furthermore, even when considering the omitted information together with the information contained in the affidavit, the CI’s proven reliability overcomes the fact that he/she was working off charges for the police. *See State v. Lee*, 863 P.2d 49 (Utah App. 1993), (under the *Franks* doctrine a defendant must show that with the information inserted, the affidavit does not support probable cause).

several occasions. *See id.* Indeed, on one occasion defendant attempted to sell some of the drugs to the CI. *See id.* Defendant even admitted to the CI that he grows the drugs in and around his house and that he sells “a lot of marijuana.” *See id.* Most importantly, the CI had witnessed marijuana in defendant’s house and in his shed within 72 hours of speaking with Detective McCarthy. *See id.* Accordingly, the CI’s “information, relied upon by police, was not some remote hearsay or assumption based on circumstantial events. The statement that the drug and its sale were personally observed in defendant’s [house] adequately sets forth the informant’s basis of knowledge.” *Hansen*, 732 P.2d at 130. *See also Singleton*, 854 P.2d at 1020 (finding an informant who had previously purchased drugs from the defendant to be reliable based on her personal observation and knowledge of the defendant’s criminal acts).

**B. The substantial detail offered by the reliable CI establishes a fair probability that the contraband would be found at defendant’s house.**

Although defendant acknowledges the three *Mulcahy* factors, his analysis ignores the second factor: “whether ‘the informant gave enough detail about the observed criminal activity to support [a finding of probable cause to search].’” *Deluna*, 2001UT App 401, ¶ 19 (citing *Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d at 236). The detail is sufficient where it provides “a fair probability that the contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” *White*, 851 P.2d at 1198. *See also United States v. Feliz*, 182 F.3d 82, 87 (1st Cir. 1999) (In determining whether there is probable cause to believe that evidence of a crime will be found at the subject premises, “[t]here is no requirement that

the belief be shown to be necessarily correct or more likely true than false.”) (citing *Spinelli v. United States*, 393 U.S. 410, 419 (1963) (holding that “only the probability, and not a prima facie showing” is required)).

Here, the CI told Officer Welcker that he/she had been in defendant’s house within the past 72 hours, mostly during the evening hours. *See* R. 107-10. During that time, defendant confessed to the CI that he was growing his own marijuana in and around his residence. *See id.* The CI observed a large amount of marijuana inside defendant’s residence and witnessed defendant sell a half ounce of the drug for \$120.00. *See id.* The CI recognized the marijuana from hundreds of previous experiences with the drug. *See id.* Thus, in light of the short period of time between the CI’s personal observation of the drugs and the point at which he/she provided the information to Officer Welcker, it is reasonable to believe that the contraband would be found at defendant’s house. *See United States v. Dill*, 693 F.2d 1012, 1014 (10th Cir. 1982) (“Probable cause for a search warrant is nothing more than a reasonable belief that the evidence sought is located at the place indicated by the [officer’s] affidavit.”) (quoted with approval in *State v. Brooks*, 849 P.2d 640 (Utah App.), *cert. denied*, 860 P.2d 943 (Utah 1993)).

The detail offered by the CI also suggested the continuing nature of defendant’s criminal activities at his residence. *See State v. Anderton*, 668 P.2d 1258 (Utah 1983) (affirming a finding of probable cause where a common-sense reading of the affidavit suggested the continuing nature of the drug’s presence). The CI told Officer Welcker that he/she had been with defendant and his female companion inside defendant’s house

within the past thirty days. *Id.* On those occasions, defendant confided in the CI that he was growing marijuana in his house and in a barn to the rear of the house. *Id.* The CI witnessed the “wet and fresh” marijuana inside defendant’s residence. *Id.* Defendant also told the CI that he sells a great amount of the drug and that he usually sells it for \$60.00 for one-eighth of an ounce. *Id.* Defendant then attempted to sell some of the drug to the CI. *Id.* Additionally, the CI indicated that during the last three months, he/she had made several visits to defendant’s house and observed individuals arriving at and leaving defendant’s residence in vehicles while transporting marijuana and drug paraphernalia. *Id.* Accordingly, “[i]n applying a common-sense interpretation, the affidavit presented a substantial basis . . . for the magistrate to conclude that with sufficient probability, some quantity of the illegal drug would still be found in the [house during the search].”

*Hansen*, 732 P.2d at 131.

**C. Where the CI was shown to be reliable and the opportunity for police investigation was severely limited, Officer Welcker’s lack of corroboration is not fatal to this case.**

Defendant’s primary claim is that Officer Welcker’s lack of corroboration is fatal to a finding of probable cause. *See* Br. of Aplt. at 9-15. In support of his claim, defendant cites various cases which recognized independent police investigation in confirming the reliability of an informant’s information. *See id.* However, defendant’s claim is refuted by this Court’s recent controlling precedent.

In *State v. Deluna*, this Court held that where “the opportunity for independent corroboration was limited and the informants’ tips were reliable, [the officer’s] lack of

independent investigation does not outweigh the other two factors in [its] analysis.” 2001 UT App 401, ¶ 21. There, an officer obtained a warrant to search Deluna’s apartment based on tips from a confidential informant and his niece regarding the defendant’s meth production. *Id.* at ¶ 2-4. The officer developed little or no corroboration. *See id.* at ¶¶ 20-21. The only independent investigation he performed was to search Deluna’s criminal record. *Id.* at ¶ 20.<sup>4</sup> In analyzing the officer’s lack of corroborative efforts, this Court held that although the officer could have corroborated the informants’ information, his failure to do so was not fatal to the warrant. *Id.* at ¶ 20 (citing *State v. Markus*, 478 N.W.2d 405, 408 (Iowa App. 1991) (cited in *Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d at 236 for the proposition that corroboration of the inculpatory details of a tip is not mandatory)). In its reasoning, this Court noted that the officer was prevented from observing the illegal activity occurring inside defendant’s apartment and was therefore unable to confirm the material facts as described by the informants. *Id.* Accordingly, the Court found that where the opportunity for independent investigation was limited and the tips were extremely reliable, no additional corroboration was necessary. *Id.* at ¶¶ 21.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup>Interestingly, in *State v. Vigh*, this Court reaffirmed its holding that “criminal histories are not properly part of probable cause determinations . . .” *Vigh*, 871 P.2d at 1033 (citing *State v. Brooks* 849 P.2d 640, 644 (Utah App.) *cert. denied*, 860 P.2d 943 (Utah 1993)). Perhaps it was for that reason that the *Deluna* court did not honor the officer’s criminal history search as a legitimate corroborative effort. *See Deluna*, 2001 UT App 401, ¶ 20.

<sup>5</sup>This Court’s holding in *Deluna* is in harmony with Utah Supreme Court precedent. In *State v. Hansen*, the supreme court upheld a search warrant based on a tip from a previously reliable police informant in which the only police corroboration was

Here, as in *Deluna*, the opportunity for independent corroboration was extremely limited. Clearly, the police could not enter defendant's house, shed, or barn to observe his production of marijuana, and coincidentally, they could not confirm that the material facts were as described by the CI. More importantly, however, the police were prevented from monitoring defendant's house and activities by legitimate safety concerns. The CI told Officer Welcker that the individuals living in the trailer next to defendant were a party to defendant's illegal activities, and were vigilant in watching for and informing defendant of any perceived police activity. *See* R. 107-10. Based on this information and on his experience as a trained narcotics officer, Officer Welcker knew "that persons involved with the distribution of narcotics often have weapons and surveillance equipment to protect themselves from police[.]" *Id. See Gates*, 462 U.S. at 241 ("[P]robable cause deals 'with probabilities. These are not technical; they are the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act.'" (Citation omitted)). Given the legitimate concern for police safety as outlined in his affidavit, Officer Welcker's opportunity for corroboration was limited.

Any investigative efforts were also hampered by a legitimate concern for public safety. The affidavit indicates that any corroboration by police would present a clear risk to public safety. *See* R. 107-10. According to the affidavit, two schools with

---

the officer's memory of the defendant's prior drug violations. *Hansen*, 732 P.2d at 129-32.



playgrounds are located across the street from defendant's house. *See id.* Based on the location of those schools, Officer Welcker requested a nighttime warrant to "afford a safer environment for children in the area attending these [sic] schools or frequenting the school playgrounds." *Id.* In the likely event that police investigative efforts were discovered by defendant, a possible gun battle could have erupted, placing the nearby children at risk. Given that and other possible scenarios, this Court has held that independent police corroborative efforts are only required where there is no risk to public safety. *See State v. Valenzuela*, 2001 UT App 332, ¶ 30 n. 8, 37 P.3d 260 ("Absent a risk to public safety, we expect police officers to make significant independent corroborative efforts to confirm information from a tip.").

Furthermore, "[w]here the reliability of the information is increased, less corroboration is necessary." *Mulcahy*, 943 P.2d at 236 (citation omitted) (alteration in original). As noted in Section A. above, the tip here was extremely reliable because it involved the personal observations of defendant's drug operations by an informant who was known to Officer Welcker and who had previously provided him and other officers with truthful and reliable information on various occasions throughout the past year. Accordingly, where Officer Welcker's "opportunity for independent corroboration was limited and the informant[s] tip[ was] reliable, [Officer Welcker's] lack of independent investigation does not outweigh the other two [*Mulcahy*] factors[.]" *Deluna*, 2001 UT App 401, ¶ 21.

\* \* \*

In sum, given “the Fourth Amendment’s strong preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant,” *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 236 (quotations omitted), when all of the significant facts set forth in the affidavit are viewed together in a common sense fashion, the magistrate had a substantial basis for determining there was “a fair probability that the contraband . . . [would] be found [at defendant’s home].” *White*, 851 P.2d at 1198 (citations omitted). Thus, the trial court correctly held that the affidavit established the requisite probable cause to issue a search warrant, and appropriately denied defendant’s motion to suppress the warrant.

## **POINT II**

### **NOTWITHSTANDING THE VALIDITY OF THE SEARCH WARRANT, OFFICER WELCKER ACTED IN GOOD FAITH, REASONABLY RELYING ON A WARRANT ISSUED BY A DETACHED AND NEUTRAL MAGISTRATE**

Even if this court holds that the warrant was defective, it should nevertheless affirm on the alternative ground that the police officer acted in good faith. See *State v. Moreno*, 910 P.2d 1245, 1247 n.1 (Utah Ct. App. 1996), *cert. denied*, 916 P.2d 909 (1996) (“[T]his [C]ourt may affirm the trial court’s decision on any proper ground.”).

In cases where a search warrant is found to be unlawful, the exclusionary rule requires suppression of the evidence obtained through the use of the defective warrant. See *State v. Fixel*, 744 P.2d 1366, 1368-69 (Utah 1987). However, in *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897 (1984), the United States Supreme Court articulated a “good faith”

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